98444-I

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/21/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

> COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON By

IN THE SUPREME COURT

# FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals No 36268-0-III

City of Richland

Respondent

۷.

**Dean Stenberg** 

Petitioner

Consolidated with

Court of Appeals No 36337-6-III

City of Pasco

Respondent

۷.

Jason Shergur

Petitioner

# PETITION FOR REVIEW

Gary Metro WSB 37919 719 Jadwin Avenue Richland, WA. 99352 (509) 943-7011 garymetro@outlook.com Attorney for Petitioners

#

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
IV.STATEMENT OF THE CASE
V. ARGUMENT7
VI.CONCLUSION11
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE12
APPENDIX

# AUTHORITIES

# Federal cases

Birchfield v. North DakotaU.S136 S. Ct. 2160,
21846,9
Schmerber v. California, 384 U.S. 757, 7716,8

### **State Cases**

State of Washington v. Garcia-Salgado, 170 Wn. 2d 576.

#### 8

# **Court Rules**

RAP2.3(d)(2)
--------------

#### 1. IDENTITIES OF PETITIONERS

Dean Stenberg and Jason Shergur request that this court accept review of the decision designated in this petition.

#### II. DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS

Mr. Stenberg and Mr. Shergur seek review of the decision of the Court of Appeals filed on March 10, 2020. The Court of Appeals erred when it upheld the constitutionality of the government's blood draws and it erred when it determined that the blood draws were authorized by statute. A copy of the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion is attached to this petition in the appendix.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

6

.

- 1.)Whether the Court of Appeals erred when they found the government's search of the petitioners bodies by blood draw was reasonable under the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and under Article 1 Section 7 of the Constitution of the Washington State even though a less intrusive means, a breath test, was available to the law enforcement which would provide the government with a specimen which would allow the government to determine what was in the petitioner's blood stream.
- 2.) Whether the Court of Appeals erred when they found that Washington State's implied consent statute gave law enforcement the choice to determine blood alcohol by either breath or blood.

# IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The cities of Richland, Washington and Pasco, Washington determined through their city attorneys that the cities would draw blood from everyone suspected of driving under the influence of alcohol. The cities believed they could draw blood provided they a had a warrant.

On October 14, 2016 Petitioner Dean Stenberg was stopped for a traffic infraction. Police suspected he was under the influence of alcohol. The police contacted a Benton County judge and requested a warrant to draw Mr. Stenberg's blood to determine how much alcohol was

in his blood stream. The warrant was approved. Mr. Stenberg was taken to a hospital where his blood was drawn.

Petitioner Stenberg moved the Benton County District Court to suppress the evidence of a blood draw because

the blood draw was not reasonable. The Court denied Mr. Stenberg's motion. Mr. Stenberg appealed the decision to the Benton County Superior Court.

On March 23, 2016, Jason Shergur was stopped for a traffic infraction by the Pasco Washington Police Department. Police suspected he had consumed alcohol. Police contacted a Franklin County Judge who authorized

 the issuance of a warrant to draw blood from Mr. Shergur to determine how much alcohol was in Mr. Shergur's blood stream.

Mr. Shergur moved the Pasco Municipal Court to suppress the evidence of the blood extracted from his body because the blood draw was not reasonable. The Pasco Municipal Court judge denied Mr. Shergur's motion. He appealed the decision to the Franklin County Superior Court.

Both Mr. Shergur and Mr. Stenberg's appeals were heard by the Honorable Joseph Burrowes who sits as a

4

superior court judge in both Benton and Franklin County.

Judge Burrowes determined that the searches of the

petitioners we reasonable and did not violate

Constitutions of the United States or the State of

Washington.

Mr. Shergur and Mr. Stenberg petitioned the Court of Appeals Division III for review. Commissioner Wasson granted review and opined as follows:

"RAP 2.3(d)(2) authorizes discretionary review "[i]f a significant question of law under the constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved." RAP 2.3(d)(3) authorizes discretionary review "[i]f the decision involves an issue of public interest which should be determined by an appellate court:" This Court has determined that the issue presented here whether drawing blood, even with a warrant, when a less intrusive breath test arguably would suffice, violates constitutional requisites of reasonableness - presents both a significant question of constitutional law and an issue of public interest under RAP 2.3(d)(2) and (3)."

The Washington State Court of Appeals Division III considered the arguments of the Mr. Stenberg and Mr. Shergur and heard the arguments of the cities. On March 10, 2020 the Court of Appeals determined that the searches of Mr. Stenberg and Mr. Shergur were constitutional because "the taking of blood is commonplace, the quantity taken is minimal and the procedure involves virtually no risk, trauma or pain. Schmerber v. California, 384 U.S. 757, 771. The Court also cited Birchfield v. North Dakota to support its decision that the cities can substitute a blood test for a breath test at its command because "nothing prevents the police from seeking a warrant for a blood test when there is sufficient time to do so in the particular circumstances. Birchfield v. North Dakota\_\_\_U.S.\_\_\_136 S. Ct. 2160, 2184.

#### V. ARGUMENT

Under Schmerber v. California, 384 U.S. 757, 771 the Supreme Court will accept review if a significant guestion of law under the Constitution of Washington or the United States is involved, or if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. Here, the Court of Appeals has ruled that a search is made reasonable by the issuance of a warrant. The Court of Appeals has also ruled that a blood test, where a needle is thrust into a persons arm, is a an experience that provides no trauma to a human being and is not an invasion of privacy and therefore warrants little or no constitutional protection. The Supreme Court should review this finding because it is both a significant question of constitutional law and is an issue of substantial public interest.

A blood draw is an invasion of the body.

State of Washington v. Garcia-Salgado, 170 Wn. 2d 576 (2010). In the context of searches that intrude into the body, the United States Supreme Court has held that the interests of human dignity and privacy which the Fourth Amendment protects requires three showings in addition to a warrant. Schmerber v. California, 384 U.S. 757m 768 (1966). First, there must be a clear indication that the desired evidence will be found. Id at 770. Second, the method of searching must be reasonable. Id at 771. Third, the search must be performed in a reasonable manner. Id at 772. Here, the State had a warrant, but the warrant allowed for a method of searching which was not reasonable. A blood test is far more intrusive than a breath test. A blood test is a search beyond the body's surface and this search implicates important interests in human dignity and privacy. Id. at 769-770. Here, the police could have measured the petitioners blood alcohol with a test, the breath test, which is far less intrusive. The

government's failure to use the less intrusive means

violated Mr. Stenberg's and Mr Shergur's rights to be free

from unreasonable searches and seizures.

The United States Supreme Court in Birchfield v. North

Dakota\_\_\_\_U.S.\_\_\_136 S. Ct. 2160, 2184 makes it clear

that blood tests implicate significant privacy concerns.

Justice Alito writes as follows:

"Blood tests .... "require piercing the skin" and extract a part of the subject's body. Skinner, supra, at 625, 109 S. Ct. 1402, 103 L. Ed. 2d 639; see also [\*\*\*40] McNeely, 569 U. S., at \_\_\_\_, 133 S. Ct. 1552, 185 L. Ed. 2d 696, 706 (opinion of the Court) (blood draws are "a compelled physical intrusion beneath [the defendant's] skin and into his veins"); id., at \_\_\_\_, 133 S. Ct. 1552, 185 L. Ed. 2d 696, 706 (opinion of Roberts, C. J.) (blood draws are "significant bodily intrusions"). And while humans exhale air from their lungs many times per minute, humans do not continually shed blood. It is true, of course, that people voluntarily submit to the taking of blood samples as part of a physical examination, and the process involves little pain or risk. See id., at , 133 S. Ct. 1552, 185 L. Ed. 2d 696, 708 (plurality opinion) (citing Schmerber, 384 U. S., at 771, 86 S. Ct. 1826, 16 L. Ed. 2d 908). Nevertheless, for many, the process is not one they relish. It is significantly more intrusive than blowing into a tube. Perhaps that is why many States' implied

consent laws, including Minnesota's, specifically prescribe that breath tests be administered in the usual drunkdriving case instead of blood tests or give motorists a measure of choice over which test to take. See 1 Erwin §4.06; Minn. Stat. §169A.51, subd. 3. *Id.* at 2178.

The petitioner's rights to privacy were violated when their blood was taken. The blood draws violated the petitioner's rights under the Washington Constitution and the Constitution of the United States.

Washington State has an implied consent statute. It is like the statute in Minnesota which is referred to in the above quoted section from *Birchfield*. The Washington Statute like Minnesota's specifically prescribes that breath tests be administered in the usual drunk driving case instead of a blood test. See *RCW* 46.20.308. The Court of Appeals read the statute to allow for a blood test if there was a warrant. The Court of Appeals reading is contrary to the law. A warrant without more does not make an unreasonable search reasonable. The statute does not give the State a choice; it gives an individual the choice.

### VI CONCLUSION

The Supreme Court should grant review. The Court of Appeals decision is contrary to the Constitutions of the State of Washington and the United States. A blood draw if far more intrusive than a breath test. Needles have caused enormous amounts of trauma to children in each and every generation. No reasonable person young or old would choose a needle over a pill if the medicine in the pill and in the syringe would have the same effect on the person's wellbeing. The state cannot choose a more draconian course just because and because why requires more than a magistrate's signature.

Respectfully submitted this 8th day of April 2020

Gary Metro WSBA 37919

Attorney for Petitioners