FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/22/2020 12:33 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Washington Supreme Court No. 98444-1

Court of Appeals No 36268-0-III

City of Richland,

Respondent, v. Dean Stenberg Appellant.

Consolidated with Court of Appeals No 36337-6-III

City of Pasco,

Respondent, v. Jason Shergur Appellant.

ANSWER TO APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Michael J. Rio, WSBA #31981 Richland/Pasco Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondents 410 N. Neel St., Suite A Kennewick, Washington 99336 (509) 628-4700 Fax: (509) 628-4742 Michael@bellbrownrio.com

<u>

I. ISSUES DISCUSSED

Should this court grant discretionary review of the Court of Appeals affirmation that a law enforcement officer may obtain a search warrant for blood without first seeking evidence through less intrusive methods of obtaining similar evidence such as a breath test?

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Shergur was arrested and charged with Driving Under the Influence of Intoxicating Liquor (DUI) on March 27, 2016. On March 28, 2016, Appellant was arraigned on a charge of DUI. On March 10, 2017, Appellant filed a motion to suppress evidence. On May 22, 2017, the City of Pasco filed its response. On May 26, 2017, Judge Petersen heard Appellant's motion to suppress and denied the motion. On August 30, 2017, Judge Petersen entered written findings of fact and conclusions of law.

On February 16, 2018, Appellant submitted his case to Judge Craig Stilwill upon stipulated facts. Judge Stilwill found Appellant guilty of DUI and imposed sentence. On February 16, 2018, Appellant was granted a motion to stay his sentence pending appeal. Thereafter, Appellant filed a notice of appeal on February 16, 2018 with Franklin County Superior Court.

On August 27, 2018, oral argument on the Franklin County Superior Court Appeal was taken. On August 30, 2018, Superior Court Judge Joseph Burrowes issued his ruling denying Appellant's appeal. On March 10, 2020 Division III of the Court of Appeals affirmed the superior court. The Appellant seeks discretionary review of that decision.

Appellant Stenberg was arrested and charged with Driving Under the Influence of Intoxicating Liquor (DUI) on October 14, 2016. On October 17, 2016, he was arraigned on the DUI charge. On May 17, 2017, Appellant filed a motion to suppress evidence. On June 8, 2017, the City of Richland responded. On June 22, 2017, Judge K. Butler heard the motion to suppress and denied the motion. On September 13, 2017, Judge Butler entered written findings of fact and conclusions of law.

On February 1, 2018, Appellant submitted his case to Judge T. Tanner upon stipulated facts. Judge Tanner found Appellant guilty of DUI and imposed sentence. Judge Tanner entered written findings of fact and conclusions of law on February 15, 2018. On February 16, 2018, Appellant was granted a motion to stay his sentence pending appeal. Thereafter, Appellant filed his notice of appeal to Benton County Superior Court on February 16, 2018.

On June 21, 2018, oral argument on the Benton County Superior Court Appeal was taken. On July 17, 2018, Superior Court Judge Joseph Burrowes issued his ruling denying Appellant's appeal. On March 10, 2020 Division III of the Court of Appeals affirmed the superior court. The Appellant now seeks discretionary review of that decision.

III. ARGUMENT

Initially, RAP 2.3(d) governs this court's exercise of discretionary review. Thereunder, this court will accept review of a case where the decision (1) is in conflict with established case law, (2) involves a significant, unresolved question of law, (3) involves an issue of public interest, or (4) is completely outside the course of usual judicial proceedings.

Appellant's primary argument addressing acceptance of discretionary review centers around the assertion that the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with controlling law. The Appellant argues that the lower courts misapplied the holding in *Birchfield v. North Dakota*, 136 S.Ct. 2160 (2016). Specifically, the Appellant argues that if it is possible to obtain evidence of impairment through a breath test it is unreasonable for the government to seek comparable evidence of intoxication in the suspect's blood via a search warrant.¹

However, the United States Supreme Court in *Birchfield v*. *North Dakota* specifically stated that "[w]e reach a different conclusion with respect to blood tests. Blood tests are significantly

¹ Motion at 8-9.

more intrusive, and their reasonableness must be judged in light of the availability of the less invasive alternative of a breath test. Respondents have offered no satisfactory justification for demanding the more intrusive alternative without a warrant."² The plain meaning of the *Birchfield* holding is that the reasonableness of obtaining a blood test, without a warrant, must be judged in light of the availability of the less invasive breath test. This interpretation is supported by the *Birchfield* Court's determination that "[n]othing prevents the police from seeking a warrant for a blood test when there is sufficient time to do so in the particular circumstances or from relying on the exigent circumstance exception to the warrant requirement when there is not."³

Additionally, the Washington State Supreme Court in *State* v. *Kalikosky*, 121 Wn.2d 525, 536, 852 P.2d 1064 (1993), noted that probable cause is the standard for the taking of a suspect's blood. Further, in *State v. Patterson*, 83 Wn.2d 49, 52, 515 P.2d 496 (1973), the Washington Supreme Court held that "[r]easonableness is the

³ *Birchfield* at 2184.

² Birchfield at 2184. Cf. State v. Figeroa Martines, 184 Wn.2d 83, 90, 355 P.3d 1111 (2015). "The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that warrants may be issued only upon a showing of 'probable cause, supported by oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized.' Probable cause exists if the affidavit supporting the warrant describes facts and circumstances sufficient to establish a reasonable inference that a person is involved in criminal activity and that evidence of the criminal activity can be found at the place to be searched." (quoting *State v. Thein*, 138 Wn.2d 133, 140, 977 P.2d 582 (1999)).

key ingredient in the test for issuance of a search warrant. That is precisely what the federal constitution says and our state constitution necessarily implies." Rather than looking at whether the evidence sought or method used by the government to obtain evidence was reasonable, the *Patterson* Court looked at whether "... the documents or testimony supporting the warrant give a fairminded, independent judicial officer ..." a good reason to issue the search warrant.⁴ It is clear that the case law attaches reasonableness, under the United States and Washington State Constitutions, to whether a warrant was properly issued and not to the type of evidence sought by the government.⁵ The type of blood draw conducted in the Appellants' cases was found to be reasonable by the United States Supreme Court in *Schmerber v. California*.⁶

⁴ State v. Patterson, at 52.

⁵ State v. Garcia-Salgado, 170 Wn.2d 176, 240 P.3d 153 (2010). "In the context of searches that intrude into the body, the United States Supreme Court has held that the " interests in human dignity and privacy which the Fourth Amendment protects" require three showings in addition to a warrant. First, there must be a " clear indication" that the desired evidence will be found if the search is performed. Second, the method of searching must be reasonable. Third, the search must be performed in a reasonable manner." (quoting Schmerber v. California, 384 U.S. 757, 768, 86 S.Ct. 1826, 16 L.Ed.2d 908 (1966)).

⁶ Schmerber 771. "Similarly, we are satisfied that the test chosen to measure petitioner's blood alcohol level was a reasonable one. Extraction of blood samples for testing is a highly effective means of determining the degree to which a person is under the influence of alcohol. Such tests are a commonplace in these days of periodic physical examination, and experience with them teaches that the quantity of blood extracted is minimal, and that, for most people, the procedure involves virtually no risk, trauma, or pain. ... Finally, the record shows that the test was performed in a reasonable manner. Petitioner's blood was taken by a

Appellants have provided no supporting authority that the decision in *Schmerber* was wrongly decided, has been overturned by subsequent United States Supreme Court decisions, or that *Schmerber* is inapplicable under the Washington State Constitution.

Appellants also assert that the Court of Appeals ruling was contrary to law in regards to the implied consent statute.⁷ The issue of whether the implied consent warnings prelude a blood draw via a search warrant was addressed in *City of Seattle v. St. John.*⁸ There, the Washington State Supreme Court held in reviewing RCW 46.20.308 that "... the legislative intent is plain on the face of the statute that an officer may obtain a blood alcohol test pursuant to a warrant regardless of the implied consent statute."⁹ The Washington State Supreme Court went on to state that "[t]he legislature made its intention regarding blood alcohol tests pursuant to a warrant quite clear: '*Neither consent nor this section precludes a police officer from obtaining a search warrant for a person's breath or blood.*' RCW 46.20.308(1) (emphasis added)."¹⁰ Conspicuously absent

physician in a hospital environment according to accepted medical practices." (citations omitted).

⁷ Motion at 10.

⁸ City of Seattle v. St. John. 166 Wn.2d 941 (Wash. 2009).

⁹ City of Seattle v. St. John, at 946.

¹⁰ State v. Goggin, 185 Wn.App. 59, 69 (Wash.App. Div. 3 2014). "Our conclusion is supported by *City of Seattle v. St. John*, 166 Wn.2d 941, 946, 215 P.3d 194 (2009), in which the Washington Supreme Court held that the plain language of RCW 46.20.308 (1) allows officers to '*obtain a search warrant for blood alcohol tests regardless of the implied consent statute*.' (Emphasis added.)"

from the appellant's motion for review is any reference to RCW 46.20.308(4) which specifically provides that an officer may apply for a search warrant for a person's blood ... "when the officer has reasonable grounds to believe that the person is in physical control or driving a vehicle under the influence or in violation of RCW 46.61.503."¹¹ Here, the cities obtained search warrants for the Appellants' blood and as such the blood tests were conducted pursuant to other authority rather pursuant to the implied consent statute.

Turning back to the standard for discretionary review, the Court of Appeals did not contravene the ordinary course of judicial proceedings, nor is its decision in conflict with any established law, or decision of the Supreme Court. Lastly, any argument addressing reasonableness has been decided by the Washington Supreme Court and thus is not a legal issue of public interest that would support discretionary review under RAP 2.3(d), subsection (3).

IV. CONCLUSION

For the above stated reasons, Respondents respectfully asks this court to deny discretionary review

¹¹ RCW 46.20.308(4). *See also, State v. Inman*, 2 Wn.App.2d 281, 293, 409 P.3d 1138, 1145 (Div. 2 2018) (citing *City of Seattle v. St. John* at 946-47) "However, the implied consent statute applies to blood alcohol tests conducted under only the implied consent statute and has no effect on blood tests conducted pursuant to other authority."